

School Employees Retirement System of Ohio

# Statement of Investment Policy

Effective August 1, 2008

# STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY

# **Table of Contents**

I.	PURPOSE OF POLICY STATEMENT	1		
II.	INVESTMENT PHILOSOPHY	1		
III.	INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES	1		
IV.	RISK MANAGEMENT	1		
	IMPLEMENTATION APPROACH			
	INVESTMENT ORGANIZATION AND RESPONSIBILITIES			
Α.				
В. С.				
D.				
E.				
F.				
VIII	IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES	4		
Α.				
В.				
C. D.				
E.				
F.				
G.				
Н.	. Securities Lending	8		
I.	Investment Managers			
J.				
K.				
L.				
VIII.	PERFORMANCE	9		
A.	PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT STANDARD	9		
B.	PERFORMANCE BENCHMARK – TOTAL FUND	9		
C.				
D.				
IX.	REVIEW AND EVALUATION	10		
APPENDIX I – GLOSSARY OF TERMS11				

# STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY

# I. Purpose of Policy Statement

The purpose of this Statement of Investment Policy (Policy Statement) is to set forth the investment philosophy and objectives of the Retirement Board (Board) for the School Employees Retirement System of Ohio (SERS).

This Policy Statement:

- A. incorporates and is subject to all restrictions and obligations set forth in Chapter 3309 of the Ohio Revised Code;
- B. establishes investment policies and describes the organization and division of responsibilities necessary to implement the Board's philosophy and objectives prudently; and
- C. establishes a framework for monitoring investment activity, and promotes effective communication between the Board, Staff, and other involved parties.

This Policy Statement is subject to change at any time by the Board. The Board will review the Policy Statement and revise it periodically to assure it continues to reflect the investment philosophy, objectives and strategies of the Board.

# **II. Investment Philosophy**

The Board recognizes the need to prudently manage SERS assets (the Fund) to meet its statutory and fiduciary obligations and to achieve or exceed its objectives. The Board's investment philosophy is grounded in fundamental, prudent investment principles, incorporating modern portfolio theory and in-depth analyses and monitoring. The Board believes it can provide consistent, long-term performance at appropriate levels of risk. By delineating responsibilities and defining policy objectives, this Policy Statement reflects the Board's investment philosophy.

# **III. Investment Objectives**

The Investment Objectives of SERS are:

- A. to assure that SERS provides statutorily-mandated retirement benefits,
- B. to earn a net-of-fees total return that equals or exceeds the Actuarial Assumed Rate approved by the Board over the long-term, and
- C. to enhance risk-adjusted investment returns of the Fund in a prudent and costeffective manner.

## IV. Risk Management

- A. The Board evaluates risk in terms of the probability of not earning the actuarial assumed rate over the long-term. Diversification across asset classes, within asset classes, and across investment styles, sectors and securities will be employed to reduce overall portfolio risk and volatility.
- B. Other risks, including but not limited to those such as interest rate risk and credit risk will be managed and carefully monitored by Investment Managers and Investment Staff.

# V. Implementation Approach

- A. The Board reserves certain responsibilities for itself, while delegating other responsibilities to the Executive Director, the Director of Investments, Investment Staff, Investment Managers, Investment Consultants, the Compliance Officer and other Investment Service Providers. These responsibilities are described in this Policy Statement.
- B. In fulfilling its fiduciary duties the Board utilizes a competent and qualified Staff to manage daily operations.
- C. The Board requires regular reporting on the Fund's investment program to ensure compliance with its Policy Statement.

# VI. Investment Organization and Responsibilities

# A. Responsibilities of the *Board*

The Board as a fiduciary is responsible for ensuring that Fund assets are managed prudently and effectively, in compliance with applicable laws and this Policy Statement, for the exclusive benefit of participants.

Responsibilities of the Board include:

- 1. establishing controls and systems to ensure that Fund fiduciaries comply with applicable laws;
- 2. establishing asset allocation and investment policies for SERS assets;
- appointing and discharging those responsible for managing SERS assets, including the Executive Director and Board consultants;
- 4. appointing and discharging Investment Managers;
- 5. monitoring and reviewing investment performance and policy compliance;
- 6. requesting, receiving and reviewing reports from Investment Staff, Board consultants and other entities, if applicable; and
- 7. reviewing, approving and revising an Annual Investment Plan (Annual Plan).

## B. Responsibilities of *Staff*

Staff will administer Fund assets as fiduciaries, and in accordance with applicable federal and state laws and regulations, this Policy Statement, ethics laws, codes of professional conduct (in particular, the CFA Standards of Professional Conduct and Code of Ethics), and other applicable codes and/or regulations. Staff will establish plans, policies and procedures to carry out these duties.

- 1. The *Executive Director* is responsible for:
  - a. ensuring that reports of the Fund's investment performance are presented on a timely basis;
  - b. retaining vendors, consultants and advisors as necessary to assist staff;

- approving for Board consideration the recommendation of the Director of Investments' and Investment Staff to appoint or discharge Investment Managers;
- d. discharging Investment Managers on an emergency basis in accordance with paragraph VI.G., below, following a recommendation by the Director of Investments, the Investment Staff and with the concurrence of the Investment Consultant:
- e. appointing and discharging Investment Director and Investment Staff; and
- f. overseeing the investment function.

# 2. The *Director of Investments* is responsible for:

- a. overseeing the Investment Program and keeping the Executive Director advised;
- b. preparing and presenting to the Board for approval the Annual Plan;
- c. implementing the Annual Plan;
- d. investigating and researching new and emerging investment concepts and strategies, and recommending or implementing appropriate strategies;
- e. informing Investment Managers, Investment Consultants and others providing investment services to SERS about the requirements of applicable laws and Board policies, and monitoring their compliance with said laws and policies;
- f. adjusting allocations to Asset Classes and Investment Managers as needed, and in accordance with this Policy Statement;
- g. recommending the appointment or discharge of Investment Managers to the Executive Director and the Board, as needed;
- h. discharging Investment Managers on an emergency basis in accordance with paragraph VI.G., below following a recommendation by Investment Staff and with the concurrence of the Investment Consultant and approval by the Executive Director;
- activating back-up investment managers previously approved by the Board, and advising the Board of such actions at its next scheduled meeting;
- approving investment manager style changes and additions and advising the Board at its next scheduled meeting; however, any change in mandate requires prior Board approval;
- k. supervising Investment Staff;
- I. monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of executed securities transactions and reporting annually to the Board the performance of agents who execute securities transactions on behalf of SERS;
- m. periodically reporting proxy voting activity to the Board; and

n. regularly reporting the status of the Fund and its multi-period performance to the Board.

# 3. The *Investment Staff* is responsible for:

- a. promptly voting, or instructing Investment Managers to vote, proxies and related actions, and maintaining detailed records of proxy votes and related actions for the Director of Investments;
- regularly reporting the status of the Fund and its multi-period performance to the Director of Investments;
- c. meeting and speaking with existing or potential Investment Managers periodically to review and assess the quality of their investments and management of assets;
- d. performing ongoing due diligence to evaluate and monitor Investment Manager capabilities relative to managing Fund assets;
- e. recommending to the Director of Investments additions or withdrawals from Investment Manager accounts, or rebalancing of asset class allocations;
- f. recommending to the Director of Investments the appointment or discharge of Investment Managers;
- g. investing assets of the Cash Equivalents portfolio;
- h. investigating and researching new and emerging investment concepts and strategies, and recommending or implementing those strategies to the Director of Investments; and
- preparing regular periodic reports for the Director of Investments on the performance of agents who execute securities transactions on behalf of SERS.

## C. Responsibilities of *Investment Service Providers*

Investment Service Providers who do business or seek to do business with SERS will act in the best interest of SERS when providing services to SERS or the Fund. Investment Service Providers will:

- 1. comply with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations, with this Policy Statement, and with all applicable professional codes and regulations;
- 2. have established ethics and conflict of interest policies and procedures, and proper internal compliance controls in place if applicable;
- 3. disclose to Investment Staff any actual or potential conflict of interest at the earliest opportunity;
- 4. disclose any investigation of, or litigation involving its operations, to Investment Staff as permitted by law; and
- 5. provide annual or other periodic disclosures as required.

The Director of Investments will adopt procedures as appropriate to implement this section.

# D. Responsibilities of *Investment Managers*

Investment Managers and Investment Staff managing assets internally are responsible for prudently investing Fund assets as fiduciaries. In addition to those applicable responsibilities described in VI.C., Investment Managers and internal staff members will:

- manage assets within their control in compliance with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations, including but not limited to applicable ethics requirements, this Policy Statement, contractual obligations, and applicable professional codes of conduct;
- inform the Director of Investments and Investment Staff of any substantial changes in investment strategy, portfolio structure, asset value, and of any organizational changes, including that of ownership, affiliation, organizational structure, financial condition, or changes in professional personnel staffing in the investment management organization;
- 3. present in-depth reports to Investment Staff;
- recommend to Investment Staff changes to investment guidelines the Investment Manager believes would enhance investment performance on a risk adjusted basis; and
- 5. select such agents for the execution of transactions, at such prices, and at such commission rates as in the good faith judgment of the Investment Manager will be in the best interest of the Fund's assets, taking into consideration in the selection of such agents not only the available prices and rates of brokerage commissions, but also other factors relevant to the transaction.

# E. Responsibilities of *Investment Consultants*

## Investment Consultants will:

- 1. provide services as a fiduciary and in accordance with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations including, but not limited to, applicable ethics requirements; in accordance with this Policy Statement; and with all applicable professional codes and/or regulations;
- 2. provide independent and unbiased research, information and advice to the Board and Staff;
- 3. assist in the development and amendment of this Policy Statement;
- 4. assist in the development of strategic asset allocation targets and ranges;
- 5. assist in the development of performance measurement standards;
- monitor and evaluate Investment Manager performance as appropriate on an ongoing basis;

- 7. recommend the retention or discharge of Investment Managers to Staff or the Board as appropriate;
- 8. collaborate with Investment Staff in the due diligence of potential Investment Managers and existing Investment Managers, as requested by Staff;
- 9. assist in the development of criteria for and procedures to be utilized in the selection of Investment Managers;
- 10. provide research, information and advice on investment topics and strategies considered relevant by the Investment Consultant, or when requested by the Board or Investment Staff:
- 11. provide those services delineated in the Advisory or Consultant Agreement; and
- 12. provide any other advice or services that the Board, Executive Director or Director of Investments determines from time to time are necessary, useful or appropriate to fulfill the objectives of this Policy Statement.

# F. Responsibilities of the Compliance Officer

The Compliance Officer is responsible for:

- 1. monitoring and reporting compliance with this Policy Statement and Board Resolutions:
- 2. ensuring that investment management agreements and related contracts comply with the Policy Statement;
- 3. ensuring that Investment Service Providers and Investment Managers comply with Sections VI.C. and D., herein; and
- 4. identifying and, in concert with Investment Staff, resolving compliance violations by Investment Managers and Investment Staff relative to their respective investment guidelines. Staff will ensure that those accounts with guideline violations are efficiently and effectively brought back into compliance.

# G. Emergency Situations

The Board authorizes the Executive Director and the Director of Investments to discharge investment managers without Board approval in emergency situations where immediate action is necessary to protect the interests of the Fund. In such emergency situations the Executive Director or the Director of Investments will notify the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board prior to taking action, if possible, and will notify the Board of its actions by email within one business day of said discharge. Staff will address the situation with the Board at its next scheduled meeting.

# VII. Implementation Strategies

A. Asset Allocation

The Board will conduct an asset and liability study every three to five years, sooner if necessary, in order to establish allocation targets and ranges for asset classes within distinct capital markets.

In order to identify the investment horizon of SERS and its cash flow requirements, liability considerations will include but not be limited to current and expected future values of the benefits, contributions and total assets.

Having given due consideration to an asset and liability study conducted by the Investment Consultant, which study met the requirements of this Policy Statement, the Board hereby recognizes and reaffirms the following asset allocation for SERS:

ASSET CLASS	<b>TARGET</b>	<u>RANGE</u>
<b>Equity</b>	65%	60% 70%
Domestic International Global Private Equity	29% 29% 7%	24% 34% 24% 34% 0% 10%
Fixed Income	35%	30% 40%
Global Bonds Global Real Estate Cash Equivalents	24% 10% 1%	19% 29% 5% 15% 0% 2%

The Board authorizes the use of Hedge Fund and Portable Alpha strategies in the Fund. Allocations to said strategies in total will not exceed 10% of the Fund's value.

#### B. Derivatives

The Board authorizes the use of derivatives in the Fund and authorizes the Director of Investments with the advice and assistance of the Investment Consultant to develop and implement derivatives strategies as needed. The Director of Investments will adopt a derivatives policy setting forth general guidelines for derivatives use.

#### C. Leverage

The Board authorizes the use of leverage in the Fund and authorizes the Director of Investments with the advice and assistance of the Investment Consultant to develop and implement certain leverage strategies. The Director of Investments will adopt a leverage policy setting forth general guidelines for the use of leverage.

## D. Rebalancing

The Director of Investments will adopt a rebalancing strategy for the Fund which ensures adherence to the asset allocation strategy in Section VII.A. The strategy may delegate certain authority to Investment Staff.

# E. Currency Hedging

The Board authorizes currency hedging in the Fund and authorizes the Director of Investments with the advice and assistance of the Investment Consultant to develop and implement currency hedging strategies as needed.

# F. Transition Management

The Board authorizes the Executive Director and the Director of Investments to hire Transition Managers as needed.

# G. Proxy Voting

The Board authorizes Investment Staff to vote proxies of common stock owned by SERS and to hire proxy services as required to implement this strategy. The Director of Investments will adopt and implement procedures for voting proxies as described in the Proxy Policy.

# H. Securities Lending

The Board authorizes Investment Staff to develop and implement a securities lending program which may involve the appointment or discharge of third party securities lending agents by the Executive Director or the Director of Investments.

# I. Investment Managers

The Board will approve Investment Managers and Backup Investment Managers based upon recommendations of Investment Staff or Investment Consultants as may be appropriate, and discussions with some Managers during Board presentations.

Investment Managers will adhere to investment guidelines established by Investment Staff, as well as all applicable laws and policies. The Director of Investments is authorized to establish and amend said investment guidelines as needed.

It is a goal of the Board to increase the utilization of Ohio-qualified Investment Managers when an Ohio-qualified Investment Manager offers quality, services and safety comparable to other Investment Managers available to the Board, and the use of such Investment Manager is consistent with the Board's fiduciary duties.

## J. Approved Agents

Agents, or broker/dealers who may provide execution of securities transactions for SERS will be evaluated on the basis of financial soundness, underwriting capabilities, research services, execution costs, and any other capabilities necessary in the execution of such transactions. Investment Managers which use such agents will use their good faith judgment to ensure that said agents will perform in the best interest of the Fund.

It is a goal of the Board to increase its utilization of Ohio-qualified agents for the execution of domestic equity and domestic fixed income trades when an Ohio-qualified agent offers quality, services, and safety comparable to other agents available to the Board or its Investment Managers, and the use of such agent is consistent with the Board's fiduciary duties.

# K. Security Litigation

SERS will follow the securities litigation policy and procedures as approved by the Board in setting out a course of action that best represents the interests of SERS' participants and beneficiaries.

#### L. Other

The strategies listed herein are not meant to constrain the Director of Investments from prudently managing the Investment Program. The Director of Investments may develop and implement additional investment strategies as needed.

#### VIII. Performance

## A. Performance Measurement Standard

Performance evaluation for the Fund will focus on total return, on an accrual accounting basis, including realized and unrealized capital gains and losses, and income. Valuations are to be made at least on a quarterly basis and period returns are to be geometrically linked. Private market asset returns may be reported one quarter in arrears. Cash and cash equivalents will be included in the portfolio's return. Performance will be calculated on a gross-of-fee basis.

#### B. Performance Benchmark – Total Fund

Performance of the Fund relative to benchmarks will be examined monthly, and will be reported for multiple time periods as needed. The Board's Investment Consultant will calculate and report performance net-of-fees on a quarterly basis.

The performance benchmark for the Fund will be the target-weighted average of the performance benchmark for each asset class, except when the Global Private Equity (GPE) allocation is less than its target weight. When the GPE allocation is less than its target weight GPE will be weighted by its actual allocation, and Domestic Equity and International Equity each will be over-weighted by one-half the difference between the GPE target and the GPE actual allocation.

#### C. Performance Benchmarks – Asset Classes

The long-term performance benchmark for each asset class is shown below. For purposes of this section, long-term refers to rolling three to five year periods. Performance in each asset class should meet or exceed the Benchmark measure.

Asset Class	Benchmark Measure		
Domestic Equity	Russell 3000 Index		
International Equity	Morgan Stanley Capital International – All Country World Free ex-U.S. Index – 50% hedged for developed countries		
Global Private Equity	Standard & Poor's 500 Index plus 300 basis points (one quarter in arrears)		
Global Fixed-Income	Lehman Brothers Aggregate Bond Index		
Global Real Estate	80% NCREIF Property Index (one quarter in arrears); 20% FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index		
Cash Equivalents	Citigroup 30-day T-Bill Index		

# D. Performance Benchmarks – Hedge Funds

Hedge Funds will be measured against performance benchmarks at the portfolio level, as follows:

- 1. The performance benchmark for Absolute Return Hedge Fund Portfolios will be the HFRI Fund Weighted Composite Index; and
- 2. The performance benchmark for Portable Alpha Hedge Fund Portfolios funded from the Domestic Equity Asset Class will be the Standard & Poor's 500 Index.

Portable Alpha Portfolio Performance will be net of the cost of providing the underlying beta.

E. Performance Benchmarks -- Individual Investment Managers

Investment Staff will establish performance benchmarks for each Investment Manager based on its respective style.

# IX. Review and Evaluation

The Board will review and evaluate periodic reports on the investment performance of Fund assets. Greater emphasis will be placed on three to five year results. The intended frequency for review and evaluation, subject to change by the Board, is as follows:

- A. Monthly Investment Report including total Fund market value, asset allocation, performance of the Fund and each asset class, and the Fund's compliance with this Policy Statement.
- B. Quarterly Summary Investment Report presented by the Investment Consultant, including highlights and commentary about market conditions, investment performance, asset composition and characteristics for each asset class, and relevant manager level information.

This policy supersedes the policy adopted August 2, 1985 and all revised policies dated 02/21/08; 10/01/07; 10/20/05; 09/15/00; 10/23/98; 6/19/98; 12/12/97; 7/25/97; 3/21/97;12/20/96; 11/22/96; 6/21/96; 4/25/96; 9/15/95;7/28/95; 6/16/95; 3/17/95; 1/20/95; 10/21/94;5/20/94; 3/06/92; 4/07/89; 9/04/87; 1/09/87.

# **Appendix I – Glossary of Terms**

**Actuarial Assumed Rate** – also referred to as the actuarial discount rate. This rate is used to value a pension fund's liabilities, and is also used as a long-term investment return objective.

**Agent** – an individual or firm (e.g., broker) authorized to act on behalf of another, such as by executing a transaction. The agent does not assume any financial risk in the transaction, as a dealer would.

**Alpha** – the premium an investment portfolio earns above a certain benchmark (such as the Standard & Poor's 500 Index). A positive alpha indicates the investor earned a return in excess of the index return.

**Asset and Liability Study** – a study to determine the appropriate level of overall investment risk for a pension plan, based on future liabilities and funding resources. The study helps maximize the probability that the return on plan assets exceeds the growth of plan liabilities.

**Asset Allocation Decision –** choosing among broad asset classes such as equities, fixed-income securities and real estate.

**Backup Investment Manager** – an investment manager approved by the Board, but not initially funded. As an approved manager, a Backup Investment Manager (also referred to as a "Backup Manager") may be activated immediately by Investment Staff if the need arises, avoiding a potentially costly and lengthy search process.

**Basis Point** – one hundredth of one percent. For example, an addition of 40 basis points to a yield of 7.50 percent would increase the yield to 7.90 percent. Basis points are normally used when quoting yields or returns, alpha, or fees paid to investment managers.

**Benchmark** – a gauge in the securities market by which investment performance can be measured, such as the Standard & Poor's 500 Index.

**Beta** – For purposes of this document, Beta is that portion of total performance attributable to market movements, as measured by a market index (e.g., S&P 500).

**Brokerage Commission** – payment for administrative costs of trading securities; the cost of execution.

**Broker/dealer** – any individual or firm in the business of buying and selling securities for itself and others. Broker/dealers must register with the SEC. When acting as a broker, a broker/dealer executes orders on behalf of a client. When acting as a dealer, a broker/dealer executes trades for the firm's own account. Securities bought for the firm's own account may be sold to clients or other firms, or become a part of the firm's holdings.

**Cash Equivalents** – highly liquid, safe investments with maturities of 397 days or less, which easily can be converted into cash. Examples include Treasury Bills, money market funds, and quality commercial paper. The Cash Equivalents asset class serves as a liquidity pool for SERS.

**Chapter 3309, Ohio Revised Code** – the Ohio statute governing the School Employees Retirement Board and School Employees Retirement System of Ohio.

**Citigroup 30-day T-Bill Index** – an unmanaged index that measures the rate of return for 30-day U.S. Treasury Bills, which are considered representative of the performance of short-term money market instruments. The Citigroup 30-day T-Bill index is SERS' policy benchmark for Cash Equivalents.

**Conflict of Interest** – a direct or indirect pecuniary interest or a relationship (without regard to whether the relationship is personal, private, commercial, or business) and the interest or relationship could diminish the Investment Service Provider's independence of judgment in the performance of its responsibilities to SERS; or bias the Investment Service Provider's evaluation of, or advice with respect to, a transaction or assignment on behalf of SERS.

**Credit Risk** – the possibility that a bond issuer will default, by failing to repay principal and interest in a timely manner.

**Currency Hedging** – also known as Currency Management. A technique or strategy used to address foreign exchange fluctuations which affect investment returns on international investments. Currency hedging can be active, passive, or a combination of active and passive. Passive hedging is a technique to neutralize fluctuations between US and Non-US currencies. Active hedging is a strategy to generate returns, taking advantage of currency fluctuations, usually by trading multiple currencies.

Default Risk - see Credit Risk.

**Derivatives (Derivative Instruments)** – financial instruments (securities or contracts) whose values are derived from underlying financial assets, indices or other instruments. Derivative performance is based on the performance of assets, interest rates, currency exchange rates, and various domestic and foreign indices underlying the instruments.

**Diversification** – spreading a portfolio over many investments to avoid excessive exposure to any one source of risk.

**Due Diligence** – an investigation or audit of a potential or existing investment.

**Equity Investment** – claims held by the residual owners of a firm. May also be referred to as common stock. Investments in Real Estate and certain Private Markets classifications may also be considered equity.

**Fiduciary** – a person, company or association holding assets in trust for a beneficiary. One who can exercise discretionary authority or can control important aspects of a pension plan's management.

**Firm Level** – as used in this Policy Statement, Firm Level refers to an Investment Management Firm and includes all investment products, strategies or styles offered by the firm.

**Fixed Income Investment** – a security issued by a borrower that obligates the issuer to make specified payments to the holder over a specific period. May also be referred to as "debt" or "bonds."

FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index – Financial Times London Stock Exchange, European Public Real Estate Association, National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts Global Real Estate Index. The FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index is a market capitalization weighted index, based on the last trade prices of shares of all eligible companies. REITs eligible for inclusion in the index must have at least 75 percent of their gross book assets invested directly or indirectly in the equity interests of income producing real estate, and must be traded on the NYSE, AMEX, NASDAQ or Toronto stock exchanges.

**Foreign Currency Risk** – incurred by investing in foreign countries. Fluctuations in exchange rates between domestic and foreign currencies impact total returns. Impacts may be positive or negative.

**Guidelines** – refers to an Investment Manager's "Investment Guidelines," established between the Investment Manager and Staff as part in an investment management agreement. Guidelines may be general or specific.

**Hedge** – an investment made to reduce the risk of adverse price movements in a security by taking an offsetting position in a related security, such as an option or a short sale.

**Hedge Fund** – a private investment partnership or an off-shore investment corporation in which the general partner has made a substantial personal investment, and whose offering memorandum allows for the fund to take both long and short positions, using leverage and derivatives, and invest in many markets. Hedge funds often use strategies involving program trading, selling short, swaps, and arbitrage. Hedge funds often are used to create alpha pools for portable alpha strategies.

**HFRI Fund Weighted Composite Index** – Published by Hedge Fund Research, Inc., the HFRI Fund Weighted Composite Index is an equally weighted index of over 2,000 hedge funds, offshore and onshore. Funds in the index must have at least \$50 million under management or must have been trading actively for at least 12 months. The index does not include fund of funds.

**Indexing** – the organization and weighting of a person's investments in line with one of the major market indices, such as the Standard & Poor's 500 Index. Also referred to as Passive investing.

**Interest Rate Risk** - the risk that an investment's value will change due to a change in the absolute level of interest rates.

**Investment Consultant** – any consultant hired by the Board or by Staff to advise or assist with the Investment Program in accordance with this Policy Statement. Board investment consultants must be approved by the Board. Staff investment consultants shall be approved by the Executive Director.

**Investment Manager** – a manager or potential manager of SERS assets, both public market and private market. Includes, but is not limited to managers of equity, fixed income, private equity, real estate, hedge funds, commodities and cash.

**Investment Program** – the implementation of SERS' investment responsibilities and the Board's Investment Policy Statement by fund fiduciaries.

**Investment Service Provider** – an entity or person, other than a Retirement Board member or SERS employee, who provides investment advice to SERS intended to affect or form a basis for investment or fund management decisions by SERS, including but not limited to (a) investment consultants, (b) investment managers, (c) agents, (d) broker/dealers, and (e) master record keepers.

**Investment Staff** – members of the investment department of SERS, including the Director of Investments, State Retirement System Investment Officers (SRSIO), and other department personnel.

**Lehman Brothers Aggregate Bond Index** – a market capitalization weighted U.S. bond index published by Lehman Brothers. Most U.S. traded investment grade bonds are represented in the index. SERS' global fixed income policy benchmark.

**Leverage** – in investments, this is the control of a large amount of money by a smaller amount of money, such as buying on margin. In finance, this is the relationship of debt to equity on a company's balance sheet in the form of the debt/equity ratio.

**Long-only** – a phrase used to describe traditional public market investment strategies which invest almost exclusively in long securities positions.

**Long-term** – in the context of SERS liability and investment horizons, long-term is assumed to be 10 years.

**Mandate** – mandate is the macro or high level strategy employed by a manager. Examples of macro strategies would be US versus Non-US; large cap versus small cap; real estate versus private equity; etc.

**Master Record Keeper** – the master accountant used by SERS.

**Modern Portfolio Theory** - a theory about how risk-averse investors can construct portfolios in order to optimize market risk for expected returns, emphasizing that risk is an inherent part of higher reward. According to the theory, it is possible to construct an "efficient frontier" of optimal portfolios offering the maximum possible expected return for a given level of risk. This theory was pioneered by Harry Markowitz in his paper "Portfolio Selection," published in 1952 by the *Journal of Finance*.

Morgan Stanley Capital International – All Country World Free (MSCI-ACWI) Index – an equity index representing 50 developed and emerging international markets. "Free" indicates the index reflects actual investable opportunities for global investors by taking into account local market restrictions on share ownership by foreigners. The MSCI-ACWI Index hedged 50% is SERS' policy benchmark for International Equities.

**NAREIT Equity Index** – a REIT index published by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts. The NAREIT Equity Index is a component of SERS' Global Real Estate Policy Benchmark.

**NCREIF Property Index (NPI)** – a quarterly time series composite total rate of return measure of investment performance of a very large pool of individual commercial real estate properties acquired in the private market for investment purposes only. The NCREIF Property Index is a component of SERS' Global Real Estate Policy Benchmark.

**Portable Alpha** – describes active strategies which generally hedge out market beta, and transport (or port) the investments' alpha to another strategy, usually by overlaying an index. Portable Alphas strategies often are implemented using Hedge Funds.

**Portfolio** – a collection of investments owned, managed, or overseen by an individual or investment manager, a board or an organization. Portfolio can mean a manager account or subset thereof (e.g., Goldman Sachs Core Plus account), an asset class (e.g., U.S. Equity), or the entire fund (e.g., SERS' total fund).

**Private Market Assets** -- broadly defined as those assets of alternative mandates utilizing either publicly- or privately-traded securities or other investment instruments. These include, but are not limited to, real estate, private equity or hedge funds.

**Proxy** - an agent legally authorized to act on behalf of another party. Shareholders not attending a company's annual meeting may choose to vote their shares by proxy by allowing someone else to cast votes on their behalf. Management often encourages shareholders to vote by proxy so that ownership interests are fully represented even if shareholders are unable to attend the company's annual meetings in person.

**Prudent (Prudent Person)** – this phrase generally refers to the prudent person rule which is a legal maxim restricting the discretion in a client's account to investments only in those securities that a prudent person seeking reasonable income and preservation of capital might buy for his or her own investment.

**Rebalancing** – the action of adjusting allocations relative to their targets or ranges to adjust for actual or anticipated market movements.

**Risk** – the uncertainty of outcome or the likelihood of a loss; the chance that an investment's actual return will be different than expected. This includes the possibility of losing some or all of the original investment. It is usually measured by calculating the standard deviation of the historical returns or average returns of a specific investment.

**Risk-adjusted Return** - a measure of how much risk a fund or portfolio takes on to earn its returns, usually expressed as a number or a rating. Usually expressed by a Sharpe Ratio or Information Ratio calculation.

**Russell 3000 Index** – a market-value weighted equity index published by the Frank Russell Company. The index measures the performance of the 3,000 largest U.S. companies in terms of market capitalization. The Russell 3000 Index is SERS' Domestic Equity Policy Benchmark.

**Securities Lending** -- the temporary loan of a security from an institutional investor's portfolio to a broker/dealer or dealer bank to support that firm's trading activities. These trading activities include short selling, selling on margin or the satisfaction of some other type of transaction. Loaned securities are generally collateralized, reducing the lender's credit exposure to the borrower. Except for the right to vote proxies, the lender retains entitlement to all the benefits of owning the original securities, including the receipt of dividends and interest.

**Securities Litigation** – for a definition of Securities Litigation please refer to SERS' Securities Litigation Policy.

**Standard & Poor's 500 Composite Index (S&P 500)** – a market-value weighted equity index published by Standard & Poor's. The index measures the performance of 500 U.S. companies thought to represent the stock market as a whole. A component of SERS' Global Private Equity policy benchmark.

**Style** –Style refers to an investment product, strategy or style offered by an Investment Management Firm and reflects how the assets are invested. For example, value versus growth; core versus value added; quantitative versus fundamental; etc.

**Total Return** – the return on an investment, including income from dividends and interest, as well as appreciation or depreciation in the price of the security, over a given time period.

**Transition Management** – management of the transition of assets from one portfolio to another by a transition manager.